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Executive Summary 

The Our Lady Star of the Sea Chapel in Te Tūranganui-o-Kupe Seatoun, Te 

Whānganui-a-Tara Wellington is included on the Wellington City Council (WCC) 

District Plan Schedule of heritage buildings as a standalone entry. There are, 

however, buildings within the Our Lady Star of the Sea site complex, not currently 

included in the extent, that are proposed for inclusion as a scheduled Heritage Area. 

These are Our Lady Star of the Sea Former School and Convent, the new Convent 

(1959) and the covered walkway connecting the chapel to the original schoolhouse 

and convent. These buildings, and the site complex is already listed in its entirety on 

the Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga List/Rārangi Kōrero and any proposed 

inclusion on the WCC District Plan seeks to align with the extent of the Heritage New 

Zealand Pouhere Taonga Heritage Area list entry 7042.  

The area has significant historic, social, and townscape and archaeological values. It 

has significant group values and is a good representative of a Sisters of Mercy 

convent and school complex. As a place of worship and education, it has significant 

recognition and sense of place. As many Catholic Sisters of Mercy sites are being 

repurposed or demolished, this site is a rare complete complex, with building 

additions rather than demolitions over time. The area has significant physical values, 

encompassing three architecturally significant historic buildings that retain a high 

degree of integrity. This significant complex of convents, the chapel, walkway, the 

school and dormitories has important group value, and significant sentiment values 

tied with the Sisters of Mercy New Zealand from 1899-1990. The complex has been 

a highly recognised key feature and landmark in the suburb of Te Tūranganui-o-

Kupe Seatoun for over a century and its longevity in this location contributes a 

distinctive sense of place. 

The complex is associated with the Wellington heritage theme1 of Building Social 

and Cultural Life and Education and Learning with the Sisters of Mercy Catholic 

Order in New Zealand. 

The site was purchased by Sister Francis Xavier Hamilton in 1899. The school 

house that was built was constructed in 1899-1902 and a private school for senior 

girls opened in 1903. It was named St Francis Xavier Academy for Young Ladies 

and ran until 1908. Sister Francis sold the school buildings and site to Sisters Mary 

Francis Doyle, Mary de Sales Goulter and Mary Cecilia Benbow in 1909. They made 

additions to the property and reopened the school in 1909 as Star of the Sea 

Preparatory for Boys. Over the decades, new additions were made to the original 

building as pupil numbers at the school expanded. 

 

 
1 Refer to the Wellington Thematic Heritage Study 2013 
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In 1924 the Chapel was built with a covered walkway adjoining the Chapel with the 

school. It was designed by renowned architect Frederick de Jersey Clere.2  

Parts of the original Sisters of Mercy site were sold off in the 1950s to fund a new 

convent, which opened in 1959. Prior to this, the Sisters had been living in a mix of 

accommodation within the dormitories of the School House and various cottages on 

the hillside of the site.3  

In 1978 the former school was completely refurbished and reopened as a 

Conference and Retreat Centre named Stellamaris.4 The Chapel continued to serve 

the local Catholic community up until the 1980s.  

The Sisters of Mercy Order relocated to Christchurch in 1990 and, although the 

chapel no longer offered mass, it continued in use as a wedding venue during the 

summer. In 1989 the convent was turned into a house of prayer with rooms for 

religious and laity.5 

The Wellington City Council notified the Sisters of Mercy that they had deemed the 

chapel to be an earthquake risk in 2002, and the property passed into private hands 

in 2007 as a way to preserve the buildings.6 

Our Lady Star of the Sea complex is recommended for scheduling on the Wellington 

City Council District Plan Schedule as a Heritage Area.  

 

Summary Statement of Significance 

The Our Lady Star of the Sea complex meets the threshold for eligibility as a 

Heritage Area. The area is associated with Sisters of Mercy, who played an 

important role in education and social welfare in early colonial Aotearoa New 

Zealand and has significant historic, social, and townscape and archaeological 

values. It has significant group values, and is a good representative of, a Sisters of 

Mercy convent and school complex. As a place of worship and education it has 

significant recognition and sense of place and the heritage area is a rare complete 

site. The area has significant physical values, encompassing three architecturally 

significant historic buildings that retain a high degree of integrity. This significant 

complex of convents, the chapel, walkway, the school and dormitories have 

important group value and significant sentiment values tied with the Sisters of 

Mercy New Zealand from 1899-1990. The complex has been a highly recognised, 

key feature and landmark in Te Tūranganui-o-Kupe Seatoun for over a century and 

its longevity in this location contributes a distinctive sense of place. 

 

 
2 “Our Lady Star of the Sea Chapel - Updated Report 2021.” 
3 Flannigan, “Like a Mustard Seed.” 
4 Flannigan. 
5 Flannigan. 
6 “Our Lady Star of the Sea Chapel - Updated Report 2021”; Flannigan, “Like a Mustard Seed.” 
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Purpose  

The purpose of this document is to consider the Our Lady Star of the Sea complex of 

buildings, located at Te Tūranganui-o-Kupe Seatoun, against Wellington City 

Council’s criteria for inclusion on the WCC District Plan as a Historic Heritage Area.  

The document has been prepared by NZ Heritage Properties on the specific 

instructions of our client, Wellington City Council. It is intended solely for the use by 

Wellington City Council in accordance with the agreed scope of work.  

 

Scope 

This assessment is a desktop study and is based on documentary sources and 

images. No site visit was undertaken. The interiors were not reviewed, other than from 

information determined through secondary sources and Council records.  

Values are considered against Wellington City Council and Greater Wellington 

Regional Council criteria for inclusion on the District Plan Heritage Schedule. 
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Heritage Inventory Report 
 

Site Details 
 

Heritage Areas - overall content and 
boundaries 

Summary of the extent of the place 16 Fettes Crescent, Seatoun, Wellington 

 
Extent includes the land described as Lot 
14 DP 51930 (RT WN25D/486), Wellington 
Land District and the buildings and 
structures known as Our Lady Star of the 
Sea Convent Chapel and covered stairway 
(connecting Former School to Chapel), Our 
Lady Star of the Sea Former School and 
Convent and Convent (1959) thereon, and 
their fittings and fixtures. 

NZTM grid reference E1752923, N5423922 

WCC Heritage Area Wellington City Council District Scheme – 
Chapel 7/120. 

HNZPT Historic Area Star of the Sea Historic Area 
Chapel - Category II reference 1413 

Archaeological site (Heritage New 
Zealand Pouhere Taonga Act 2014, 
Section 6) 

Yes – recorded site (NZAA site recording 

scheme), original school house pre-dates 

1900. 

Other names Chapel - Our Lady Star of the Sea Convent 
Chapel 
School – St Francis Xavier Academy for 
Young Ladies; Star of the Sea Preparatory 
school for boys; St Mary’s, later known as 
Stellamaris Retreat and Conference 
Centre 
    

 

List of places 

Address Legal  

Description(s) 

District Plan 

reference 

HNZPT 

reference 

New Zealand 

Archaeological 

Association 

(NZAA) site 

record number(s) 

Our Lady Star 

of the Sea 

Chapel - 69 

Tio Tio Road 

PT LOT 14 

DP 51930, 

Originally 

section 5, 

Block XXXII 

WCC District 

Plan 7/120 

Category II 

reference 

1413 
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Star of the 

Sea Historic 

Area 7042 

Former 

School and 

convent  

Lot 14, DP 

51930, 

Originally 

Section 7, 

Block XXXII 

   

Convent 

(1959) 

Lot 14, DP 

51930, 

Originally 

Section 3, 

Block XXXII 

   

 

  



 Our Lady Star of the Sea Heritage Area, November 2021 

 Wellington City Council |  9 of 96 
 

Extent: WCC Onemap November 2021 

 
Wellington City Council webmap with labels identifying buildings with Heritage Area. 
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Historical Summary 

Our Lady Star of the Sea Chapel is part of a precinct listed by Heritage New 

Zealand Pouhere Taonga which includes a Chapel, former School and Convent 

and connecting stairway for the Catholic Sisters of Mercy. The three structures 

belonged to the Roman Catholic order of the Sisters of Mercy since 1909 and in 

2007 were sold into private hands of acclaimed film director Peter Jackson and 

film screenwriter and producer Fran Walsh. 

 

Land and Māori history 

Te Whānganui-a-Tara Wellington’s nearly circular harbour (about 10 kilometres in 

diameter) began as a shallow basin between two tilted land blocks. Repeated 

uplifting along the Wellington Fault raised the block on the western side, creating a 

cliff from Thorndon to the Hutt Valley. The block to the east tilted down towards the 

fault, creating a depression that later filled with water.7 Matiu (Somes Island) and 

Mākaro (Ward Island) are the exposed peaks of a submerged ridge running parallel 

with the extensive ridges of Miramar Peninsula and Hataitai.8  

 
Early Māori narratives tell that Te Whanganui-a-Tara Wellington harbour was 

originally a land-locked lake, home to two large taniwha. One taniwha, energetic 

Ngake, forged a passage from Te Awakairangi the Hutt River to the open sea, 

creating the entrance to the harbour. The second, Whataitai, following in Ngake’s 

wake, became stranded with the outgoing tide and eventually died. Whataitai’s 

spirit took the form of a bird, that flew to the top of the peak and cried farewell 

before departing to Ranginui – hence its name Tangi te keo.9 The very top of 

Matairangi Mount Victoria is still known as Tangi te Keo. Over the years Whātaitai’s 

body turned to stone and today is known as Hataitai.10  

 
The Te Whānganui-a-Tara area of Aotearoa New Zealand was said to have been 

first explored by Kupe. Kupe set off from his homeland Hawaiki in pursuit of a giant 

wheke/octopus. The pursuit led him to Aotearoa New Zealand, where he finally 

caught the creature in Raukawakawa Cook Strait11. In the landscape later known 

as Te Whānganui-a-Tara Wellington, he named rock formations near Cape Palliser 

Ngā Ra o Kupe (the sails of Kupe), Arapāoa, Mana, the islands Matiu (Somes 

 
7 Adkins, “The Great Harbour of Tara. Traditional Place Names and Sites of Wellington Harbour and 
Environs.” 
8 Adkins. 
9 Wellington City Libraries, “Te Aro Pa and Matairangi.” 
10 Grace and Ministry of Education, “Ngake and Whātaitai the Taniwha of Wellington Harbour.” The 
site Tangi te keo, on the Matairangi Mount Victoria peak and ridgeline is a site of significance to Māori 

and recorded as M72 in the WCC District Plan. 
11 Greater Wellington Regional Council website Māori history of the Greater Wellington region | 
Greater Wellington Regional Council (gw.govt.nz) Accessed November 2021. 

https://www.gw.govt.nz/maori-history-of-the-greater-wellington-region/
https://www.gw.govt.nz/maori-history-of-the-greater-wellington-region/
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Island) and Mākaro (Ward Island) before returning to Hawaiki.12 These names were 

preserved as later iwi came to settle the land. 

 

Mana whenua of Te Whānganui-a-Tara trace their origins to the subsequent 

arrival of the Kurahaupō waka. Some traditions name Whātonga as the captain of 

the waka. He later explored Te Ika a Maui the North Island from Māhia south, 

naming the harbour Te Whānganui-a-Tara, for his son Tara.13 Descendants 

include Ngāi Tara, Rangitane, Muaupoko, Ngāti Apa and Ngāti Ira.14  

 
The area around Te Whanganui-a-Tara was occupied for centuries by these 

various Māori groups.15 Two tribes of Ngāi Tara (in the area from c1405-1650) and 

Ngāti Ira (in the area until 1829) amalgamated and became known as Ngāti Ira. 

Ngāti Ira were the inhabitants of Te Whanganui-a-Tara and its environs including 

Porirua and the area up to the Kāpiti Coast.16 The principal chief of Ngāti Ira in the 

late 1810s, Whanake and his son Te Kekerengu both lived on the west coast of Te 

Whānganui-a-Tara near Porirua Harbour. 

 

Incoming tribes from far to the north of Te Whānganui-a-Tara area began to push 

out Ngati Ira, and they faced consistent pressure as an influx of people continued 

from western Waikato and Taranaki.17 Many war parties and migration of other 

tribes, such as Ngāpuhi, Ngāti Whatua, and Ngāti Toa, drove the last remaining 

Ngāti Ira out of the area.18 Ngāti Toa and its allies defeated Ngāti Ira and gained 

ascendency over the Kāpiti Coast in 1824, although some Ngāti Ira continued to 

live at Porirua.19  

 

By 1840, the groups holding customary rights within the Port Nicholson block were 

complex, with Te Āti Awa, Taranaki, Ngāti Ruanui, Ngāti Tama, and Ngāti Toa all 

claiming rights established through conquest, occupation, and use of resources. 

The wider Te Whānganui-a-Tara Wellington region then and now hosted a number 

of iwi, including Te Āti Awa, Muaupoko, Rangitāne o Wairarapa, Ngāti Raukawa, 

Ngāti Toa (Ngāti Toarangatira), and Te Atiawa ki Whakarongotai.20 

 

 
12 Reid, “Muaūpoko - Early History”; Royal, “First Peoples in Māori Tradition - Kupe.” 
13 Waitangi Tribunal, “Te Whanganui a Tara Me Ona Takiwa,” 17–18. 
14 Love, “Te Āti Awa of Wellington”; Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga, “Research Report on 
Heritage Values Hannah Playhouse, Wellington.” 
15 Report, “Te Whanganui A Tara Me Ona Takiwa - Report on the Wellington District.” 
16 Murray, “A History of Tawa.” 
17 Report, “Te Whanganui A Tara Me Ona Takiwa - Report on the Wellington District.” 
18 Murray, “A History of Tawa.” 
19 Murray. 
20 “Brooklyn Wellington.” 
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It was in this complex setting that in 1839, the New Zealand Company chose Te 

Whānganui-a-Tara Wellington’s Port Nicholson as the site for its first settlement 

of British immigrants.21  

 

Te Tūranganui-o-Kupe Seatoun  

The traditional Māori name for the Seatoun area is Te Tūranganui-o-Kupe, where 

the navigator, Kupe, first set ashore. Kupe also named the foreshore, 

Kirikiritatangi after the rattling and rumbling caused by the waves disturbing 

gravel on the beach.22 Kupe’s descendants settled on the island of Motukairangi, 

which was surrounded by a lagoon known as Te Rotokura or Para.23 This lagoon 

covered much of the low-lying land on the peninsula. 

 

The land was bought by colonist James Coutts Crawford who renamed the area 

‘Miramar’ – Spanish for ‘sea view’.24 Crawford was a former Royal Navy officer 

turned businessman and colonist, who arrived in Wellington in 1840. Crawford 

established a farm on the peninsula, which at the time was known as Watt's 

Peninsula, and he drained the large lagoon known as Te Rotokura or Para, or to 

Europeans, “Burnham Water”. This area is now occupied by suburban houses, 

streets, parks and shops. 

 

The area was predominantly for farming but was also a popular recreation spot 

with a hunt club, polo field, golf links, and a trotting club. Te Tūranganui-o-Kupe 

Seatoun began to develop when 132 residential sections were sold in 1902, the 

Miramar Borough Council was established in 1904 and tram lines and services 

were extended through Hataitai in 1907. 

 

Sisters of Mercy 

The Institute of Our Lady of Mercy had been founded in Dublin in 1831 by 

Catherine McAuley to educate working-class children, protect and train young 

women, and care for the sick. It grew into the largest religious society founded by 

an English-speaking Catholic.25 The Sisters of Mercy made a promise to God that 

they would help to look after sick and poor people in their community and provide 

education for children and young women. In Ireland at this time, nuns were 

confined in convents, however the Sisters of Mercy became known as the 

“walking Sisters” because they went out into the community.26 

 

 
21 Report, “Te Whanganui A Tara Me Ona Takiwa - Report on the Wellington District.” 
22 “Seatoun.” 
23 “A Sneaky Peak at Miramar’s History.” 
24 Wellington City Council, “Miramar/Seatoun Local History.” 
25 “Sisters of Mercy Arrive in New Zealand.” 
26 “History of Catherine McAuley.” 
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Catherine McAuley regarded education as one of the first works of mercy. “She 

was convinced the failings of the poor were caused more often from ignorance 

than from malice”.27 With every foundation that was set up (fourteen convents 

were established within the last seven years of Catherine’s life), a free school for 

girls was opened where reading, writing, grammar, spelling, arithmetic and home 

crafts were taught.28 Her foundation in Carlow, Ireland, was to have strong links 

to Aotearoa New Zealand as many of the Sisters arrived from there.29 

 

The Sisters’ strong tradition of nursing grew from their experience of caring for 

victims of the cholera epidemics in Ireland and England in the 1830s and 40s. In 

the 1860s the Sisters nursed with Florence Nightingale during the Crimean war. 

Victims of the 1918 influenza epidemic were nursed by Sisters of Mercy in 

Aotearoa New Zealand and elsewhere in the world.30 

 

Bishop J B F Pompallier, the first Catholic bishop of Tāmaki Makaurau Auckland, 

sought Irish nuns for his diocese in 1849. He succeeded in obtaining the services 

of Mother Mary Cecilia and seven other sisters from Carlow. Pompallier and his 

party, which included priests and seminarians, left Antwerp, Belguim on 27 

August 1849 on the Océanie, a Belgian vessel of 533 tons. During the voyage to 

Aotearoa New Zealand, Pompallier taught the sisters te reo Māori, which some 

came to speak fluently. Mother Mary Cecilia and her companions landed in 

Tāmaki Makaurau Auckland on 9 April 1850. They were the first women 

religious31 to arrive in Aotearoa New Zealand.32 

 

The Sisters of Mercy were the first canonically consecrated religious women to 

become established in Aotearoa New Zealand, and the Parnell convent in Tāmaki 

Makaurau Auckland formed their earliest branch house in the Auckland Diocese. 

The Sisters played an important role in education and social welfare in early 

colonial Aotearoa New Zealand.33  

 

 

Wellington Sisters of Mercy 

On 14 June 1861, three Sisters of Mercy arrived in Te Whānganui-a-Tara 

Wellington from Carlow in response to appeals from Bishop Phillippe Viard. 

Leading the group was Mother Bernard Dickson, an English woman who entered 

the Bermondsey foundation in London, England in 1847 and had nursed in the 

 
27 Flannigan, “Mercy Comes to Wellington: A History of St Mary’s College.” 
28 Flannigan. 
29 Flannigan. 
30 “Mercy Hospice - Our History.” 
31 Women religious is a term used to describe women involved in the Roman Catholic Church. 
32 Delany, “Maher, Mary Cecilia.” 
33 “Church and Convent of St John the Baptist (Catholic).” 



 Our Lady Star of the Sea Heritage Area, November 2021 

 Wellington City Council |  14 of 96 
 

Crimea for several months before being invalided home. She arrived with young 

novice, Augustine Maxwell, who made her profession in Tāmaki Makaurau 

Auckland in 1861, and a young French postulant, Marie Deloncle.34 

 

In 1863 the community welcomed Sister Camillus Heffron from Tāmaki Makaurau 

Auckland. She had sailed with Bernard and Augustine from Carlow, Ireland. By 

now, the Mercy community in Te Whānganui-a-Tara Wellington totalled six 

professed sisters and a novice. 

 

The next 10 years saw steady growth. A two-storey accommodation block was 

added to the convent, and a successful bazaar – Te Whānganui-a-Tara 

Wellington’s first – raised funds for a new dining room and dormitory at the 

boarding school. Care for a growing number of European orphans, whose parents 

had died or were ill, and who, unlike Māori orphans, received no government 

allowance, posed a new challenge for Bernard and her community.35 

 

After Bishop Viard died in 1872 and both Mother Bernard and Augustine fell ill, 

Mother Bernard persuaded the Vicar General to seek help from Bishop Gould in 

Melbourne Australia, where two Mercy convents had been founded by Ursula 

Frayne, one of Catherine McAuley’s first 11 companions. 

 

Two sisters accepted the invitation – English-born Cecilia Benbow and Australian 

Xavier Butler. Welcomed in July 1873 by Wellington’s administrator, Bishop 

Moran, they brought with them new energy and talent. More new members were 

recruited by Mother Mary Cecilia in London in 1877 and on 10 January 1878, 6 

new subjects arrived for the Te Whānganui-a-Tara Wellington community. 

Another four, including Sister Francis Xavier Hamilton, arrived on 22 January 

1878 on the ship Rialto.36 They all brought furnishings and equipment for the new 

schools.  

 

St Francis Xavier’s Academy was originally based in central Te Whānganui-a-

Tara Wellington with Sister Francis Xavier Hamilton as Principal. The Academy 

was established in 1890, at the corner of College Street and Cambridge Terrace, 

and had a roll number of forty pupils at the end of the first year. The original 

building became too limited in space for the amount of pupils, and more space 

became needed, with the school expanding and moving to Ingestre Street. 

Besides the principal, the teaching staff includes six assistant-teachers, inclusive 

of visiting masters for painting, shorthand, and music.37  

 
34 “Crimea’s Nurse to the Rescue - Wellington 1861.” 
35 “Crimea’s Nurse to the Rescue - Wellington 1861.” 
36 Flannigan, “Mercy Comes to Wellington: A History of St Mary’s College.” 
37 Limited, “Cyclopedia of New Zealand - Wellington Provincial District.” 
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Sister Francis Xavier Hamilton soon relocated the “flourishing establishment of St 

Xavier Academy for Young Ladies” to Te Tūranganui-o-Kupe Seatoun.38 She 

purchased the land in 1899 from the sons of landowner James Coutts Crawford, 

Alexander Donald and Charles John Crawford, who also owned much of the land 

around Te Tūranganui-o-Kupe Seatoun. Both the Crawford sons had positions on 

the Seatoun Road Board and Charles became Mayor.  

 

Sister Francis Xavier appears to have built the schoolroom and dormitories 

sometime in 1899-1902.39  

 

A section of this building is still recognisable amongst the additions run by Sister 

Francis Xavier Hamilton, who purchased the property section 7, Block XXXII in 

1899 (WN 98/147). She is recorded in the Seatoun Valuation Rolls 1898-99 as 

owning the property valued at £29, with this entry then crossed out and replaced 

with the entry of £455, suggested a building was built around this time.40 In the 

1902-1903 Valuation Roll, the value went up from £500 to £750, suggesting more 

improvements or that the building was now completed.41 The St Francis Academy 

for Young Ladies was opened in 1903.42  

 

In 1906 it was reported that a 5-roomed villa ‘adjoining’ St Francis Academy was 

up for auction.43 This original schoolroom building was still on site and had been 

incorporated into the wider buildings, as extensions were added in quick 

succession in 1909, 1913, and 1920, as the school and convent presumably 

grew. 

 

In 1908 the property went up for sale and was described in an advertisement as a 

“substantial modern building” with 10 rooms “well known as St Francis Xavier’s 

Ladies Seminary”; some rooms large, with all the “usual and necessary 

conveniences”.44 Sister Francis Xavier was reported as having found it necessary 

due to “overwork” to retire and she intended to return to France. She is reported 

as having great success as a teacher in the Te Whānganui-a-Tara Wellington 

area.45 

 

 
38 “St Francis Xavier’s Academy for Young Ladies, Seatoun.” 
39 “Seatoun Road District Valuation Roll of Period of 1 April 1898-1899”; “Seatoun Road District 
Valuation Roll for Period 1902-1903.” 
40 “Seatoun Road District Valuation Roll of Period of 1 April 1898-1899.” 
41 “Seatoun Road District Valuation Roll for Period 1902-1903.” 
42 “St Francis Xavier’s Academy for Young Ladies, Seatoun.” 
43 “State Insurance.” 
44 “Page 8 Advertisements Column 2.” 
45 “Social and Personal.” 
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In 1909 the property was purchased by Mother Francis Doyle, Mary de Sales 

Goulter and Mary Cecilia Benbow of the Sisters of Mercy (WN 98/147) who 

turned the school into the Star of the Sea Preparatory School for Boys. For many 

weeks there was only one pupil, Dicky Barrett of Christchurch and he was taught 

by Sister Mary Cecilia Benbow who was given charge of Star of the Sea.46 

 

Over the next few years, additional properties were purchased as part of the 

complex. The first was a cottage, then three houses and a property that was 

named the Top House, which served as a laundry and sewing room in the early 

days.47 An extra dormitory was built in 1920 and while it was constructed, the 

senior boys slept in a house near the seashore.48 Seven or eight sisters lived in 

the Boarding School and the rest slept in the cottages around the hillside.49 There 

was no heating or hot water in the cottages or the chapel until the 1940s.50 

 

The Sisters also staffed St Anthony’s Parish School on the flat when it opened in 

1923 until 1977 when it was run by lay staff.51 Miramar School opened in 1931 

and was also run by the Sisters who travelled on foot over the hills to teach at the 

school.52 

 

Prior to the Chapel construction, the Sisters had relied upon the school chapel for 

their worship, which was part of the original St Francis Xavier Academy. In 1922 

the founding stone for the new chapel was laid and it was erected in memory of 

Sister Mary Cecilia Benbow.53 Sister Cecilia lived for many years at St. Mary’s 

Convent in Guildford Terrace and was a gifted teacher, musician and artist before 

becoming head teacher at Star of the Sea. 

 

The Star of the Sea Chapel was designed by Frederick de Jersey Clere and 

dedicated in August 1924. It is the earliest of Clere’s many commissions for the 

Sisters of Mercy.  Many of the decorative elements were dedicated to former 

members of the local Catholic community, including Sister Cecilia, and the altar 

was donated by the parents of Dicky Barrett, the first pupil at Star of the Sea who 

was killed in the First World War. 

 

 
46 Flannigan, “Like a Mustard Seed.” 
47 Flannigan. 
48 Flannigan. 
49 Flannigan. 
50 Flannigan. 
51 Flannigan. 
52 Flannigan. 
53 “Our Lady Star of the Sea Convent Chapel (Catholic).” 
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The 1930s saw the top playground being levelled under the No 5 Scheme during 

the Depression.54 A school pool was added in 1957.55 

 

In 1941 the building was partially destroyed when a fire broke out. One of the 

Sisters managed to ring the fire service moments before the telephone lines were 

melted.56 Star of the Sea ceased to exist as a school when it finally closed in 

1976.  

 

A new convent had been financed by the land on periphery of Seatoun Heights 

Road being sold and was opened in 1959. This meant the sisters could all live 

together rather than in separate cottages.   

 

In 1974 it was decided that the school would only take boys up to Standard 4 

(Year 6 today) and in 1976 the school closed.57 

 

In 1977 the former school was completely refurbished with dormitories turned into 

bedrooms and in 1978 the Conference and Retreat Centre opened with 26 

bedrooms and was renamed Stellamaris.58 It was a busy facility with groups on 

retreat, conference and seminars for all denominations. In 1982 the convent had 

been converted for use as a training centre for novices. 

 

In 1981, Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga then the Historic Places Trust, 

listed the area in which the convent, chapel and school stands as the Star of the 

Sea Historic Area.  

 

The Star of the Sea Chapel served daily mass to both the Sisters and the local 

Catholic community up until the 1980s. In 1982 the Sisters of Mercy turned the 

convent into a national novitiate for the training of novices. The order relocated to 

Ōtautahi Christchurch in 1990 and, although the chapel no longer offered mass, it 

continued in use as a wedding venue during the summer. In 1989 the convent 

was turned into a house of prayer with rooms for religious and laity.59 

 

In 2002 the building was deemed to be unsafe in the event of an earthquake and 

it was closed to the public. Unable to meet the costs of preservation, the Sisters 

were forced to sell the building.  There was public concern that the 1.35 hectare 

site would be demolished and the site subdivided for a development of 

townhouses. The Sisters applied to the Environment Court in May 2007 to have 

 
54 Flannigan, “Like a Mustard Seed.” 
55 Building Permit Swimming Pool (Wellington City Council Archives C564). 
56 Flannigan, “Like a Mustard Seed.” 
57 Flannigan. 
58 Flannigan. 
59 Flannigan. 
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the Historic Places heritage classification removed from the chapel. There were 

numerous submissions to the Court to protect the building.  A consortium that 

included high profile movie directors Sir Peter Jackson and Fran Walsh came 

through and purchased the building in 2007 for use in ‘low-key work and film 

editing,’ and works to earthquake strengthen the building commenced in 2012. 
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Photographs and Images 

 
The Star of the Sea Chapel with walkway on the left connecting to former schoolhouse, 2015, Wellington City 

Council.  

 

 

 
The Star of the Sea Chapel with covered walkway on the left, 2015, Wellington City Council. 

 

 
.  
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Former school room and dormitory incorporated into the “Former school and convent”, 2015, Wellington City 

Council.  

 
The Star of the Sea Chapel, 2015, Wellington City Council.  

 



 Our Lady Star of the Sea Heritage Area, November 2021 

 Wellington City Council |  21 of 96 
 

 
Former school room and dormitory incorporated into the “Former school and convent 2015, Wellington City 

Council.  

 

 

Chronologies and Timelines  

Timeline of events including modifications 

 

1899 Sister Francis Xavier Hamilton purchased land from Alexander and 

Charles Crawford. 

1899-1901 Schoolhouse built (Seatoun Ratesbooks 1898-1901, Wellington City 

Council). 

1903 Francis Xavier Academy for Young Ladies opens on property under 

Sister Francis Xavier Hamilton as principal. 

1909 School purchased by three Sisters of Mercy and run as Star of the 

Sea for boys. Extensions made. 

1913 [16 Fettes Crescent], additions to college (Wellington City Council 

Archives 156) 

1920 [16 Fettes Crescent], additions to convent school (Wellington City 

Council Archives 492) 

1920 [16 Fettes Crescent], additions to school (Wellington City Council 

Archives 507) 

1923 Convent chapel erected (Wellington City Council Archives A1568) 

1950 Seatoun Heights [16 Fettes Crescent], extension and alteration to 

hall (Wellington City Council Archives 492) 

1951 20 Seatoun Road [16 Fettes Crescent], additions (Wellington City 

Council Archives B31675) 
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1956 Tio Tio Road [16 Fettes Crescent], garage (Wellington City Council 

Archives B39600) 

1956 Fettes Crescent [16 Fettes Crescent], convent extension (Wellington 

City Council Archives B40195) 

1957 Tio Tio Road [16 Fettes Crescent], Swimming Pool (Wellington City 

Council Archives C564) 

1958 Tio Tio Road [16 Fettes Crescent], retaining wall (Wellington City 

Council Archives C3189) 

1959 Tio Tio Road [16 Fettes Crescent], convent (Wellington City Council 

Archives C5603) 

1964 Tio Tio Road [16 Fettes Crescent], reinstate dwelling (Wellington 

City Council Archives C14239) 

1967 Tio Tio Road [16 Fettes Crescent], reinstate outbuilding (Wellington 

City Council Archives C21157) 

1967 Tio Tio Road [16 Fettes Crescent], building alterations - convent 

(Wellington City Council Archives C21200) 

1987 Tio Tio Road [16 Fettes Crescent], Convent – dwelling additions and 

alterations (Wellington City Council Archives D8493) 

2002 Chapel is closed to the public 

2003 69 Tio Tio Road [16 Fettes Crescent], additions and alterations 

(Wellington City Council Archives 108518). 

2004 16 Fettes Crescent, structural strengthening, re-roofing and 

alterations to lobby, Star of the Sea Chapel (Wellington City Council 

Archives 119523). 

2007 Sisters of Mercy apply to get Heritage classification removed from 

the Chapel in the Environment Court. 

2007 Property passes into private ownership – Sir Peter Jackson and 

Fran Walsh. 

2012 Seismic strengthening – SR 233024 and SR 230404 

 

 

 

Biographies 
 

Sister Cecilia Benbow – Teacher in Charge Star of the Sea 

Cecilia Benbow was born 22 May 1840, Birmingham, England. She was the 

eldest of 6 children. When the eldest son went to Victoria, Australia, the family 

followed and Miss Benbow entered the struggling Convent of Mercy. She 

received the religious habit and white veil in 1858 was professed in 1860. Help 

was sought from Bishop Gould in Melbourne, for more sisters to come to Te 
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Whānganui-a-Tara Wellington to aid the Sisters of Mercy after many were in ill 

health.60 

 
Two sisters accepted the invitation – English-born Cecilia Benbow and Xavier 

Butler and they were welcomed in July 1873 by Te Whānganui-a-Tara 

Wellington’s administrator, Bishop Moran. Sister Cecilia brought new energy and 

talent. She founded the nucleus of St Mary’s Convent and schools in the same 

year.61 Sister Mary Cecilia was elected Mother Assistant and Mistress of Novices 

in 1874 after another sister died. She left Te Whānganui-a-Tara Wellington for 

Europe in 1876 to secure more school Sisters and monetary help for the order, 

returning on 10 January 1878, with 6 new subjects for the Te Whānganui-a-Tara 

Wellington community. Another four, including Sister Francis Xavier Hamilton, 

arrived on 22 January 1878 on the ship Rialto.62 

 

Mother Cecilia filled various high offices in the Sisters of Mercy order. From 1910 

she had lived a “life of prayer and retirement” at the Seatoun Convent and was 

the teacher in charge.63 She died at the Seatoun Convent on the 10 January 

1922.64 

 

Sister Francis Xavier Hamilton – teacher of St Francis Xavier Academy 
Helen Mary Hamilton, also known as Sister Francis Xavier Hamilton, was born at 

Edgbaston, Warwick c1844. She was educated at a convent of French ladies at 

Isleworth-on-Thames, England, receiving the finishing touches to her education in 

Paris, France. Having joined the Order of Mercy at Edinburgh Scotland, and 

passing to London England, she arrived in Aotearoa New Zealand with four new 

Sister of Mercy members in January 1878 on the ship Rialto after answering the 

call to help the New Zealand Order.65 

 

Immediately on arriving in Te Whānganui-a-Tara Wellington, Sister Francis Xavier 

Hamilton went into the Convent, where she remained for nine years. 

Subsequently she went to Waiharakeke Blenheim, and for eighteen months acted 

as Lady Superior at the Convent there.  

 

Returning to Te Whānganui-a-Tara Wellington in 1890, she opened the private 

school of St. Francis Xavier's Academy having received leave from Rome, Italy to 

work on her own account. Under her supervision, it grew to be very popular and 

 
60 “Death of a Notable Sister of Mercy.” 
61 “Death of a Notable Sister of Mercy.” 
62 Flannigan, “Mercy Comes to Wellington: A History of St Mary’s College.” 
63 “Death of a Notable Sister of Mercy.” 
64 “Death of a Notable Sister of Mercy.” 
65 Flannigan, “Mercy Comes to Wellington: A History of St Mary’s College.” 
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roll numbers were large.66 Her school was popular and she then removed it from 

the centre of Te Whānganui-a-Tara Wellington to Te Tūranganui-o-Kupe Seatoun 

for senior girl pupils. 

 

She retired in 1908, on account of overwork, intending to go back to France but 

instead returned to England.67 She was given a celebratory send off and thank 

you for her work with the school. She died on 25 January 1917 aged 73 at 

Buckfastleigh, Devon, England. “Her great qualities, both of mind and heart, 

endeared her to a large circle of friends here and in the Old Country”.68 

 

Frederick de Jersey Clere (1856-1952) – architect of Star of the Sea Chapel 

Frederick de Jersey Clere was born in Lancashire England, the son of an 

Anglican clergyman, and was articled to Edmund Scott, an ecclesiastical architect 

of Brighton. He then became chief assistant to R J Withers, a London architect. 

Clere came to Aotearoa New Zealand in 1877, practising first in Aorangi Feilding 

and then in Whanganui. He later came to Te Whānganui-a-Tara Wellington and 

practised there for 58 years.  

 

He was elected a Fellow of the Royal Institute of British Architects in 1886 and 

held office for 50 years as one of four honorary secretaries in the Empire. In 1883 

he was appointed Diocesan Architect of the Anglican Church; he designed more 

than 100 churches while he held this position. Clere was a pioneer in reinforced 

concrete construction; the outstanding example of his work with this material is 

the Church of St Mary of the Angels (1922), Te Whānganui-a-Tara Wellington.  

 

As well as being pre-eminent in church design, Clere was responsible for many 

domestic and commercial buildings including Te Whānganui-a-Tara Wellington's 

Harbour Board Offices and Bond Store (1891) and Overton in Tutaenui Marton. 

Clere was also involved in the design of large woolsheds in Hawkes Bay and 

Wairarapa. He was active in the formation of the New Zealand Institute of 

Architects and served on their council for many years. He was a member of the 

Wellington City Council until 1895, and from 1900 a member of the Wellington 

Diocesan Synod and the General Synod. He was also a member of the New 

Zealand Academy of Fine Arts.    

 

 

 

 
66 Cyclopedia Company Limited, “The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Wellington Provincial District].” 
https://nzetc.victoria.ac.nz/tm/scholarly/tei-Cyc01Cycl-t1-body-d4-d21-d8.html  
67 “Social and Personal.” 
68 “Women In Print.” 

https://nzetc.victoria.ac.nz/tm/scholarly/tei-Cyc01Cycl-t1-body-d4-d21-d8.html
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Physical description 
 

Setting and surrounds 

The Star of the Sea Historic Area (as listed by Heritage New Zealand Pouhere 

Taonga) is an area situated on the eastern hillside of Miramar Peninsula, 

overlooking the suburb of Te Tūranganui-o-Kupe Seatoun. The historic area 

contains the Our Lady Star of the Sea Convent Chapel and covered stairway 

(connecting Former School to Chapel), Our Lady Star of the Sea Former School 

and Convent and new Convent (1959). The site is set on the hillside of Te 

Tūranganui-o-Kupe Seatoun, amongst residential subdivisions (which are on part 

of the land that started to be subdivided by the Sisters of Mercy in the 1950s).69 

Due to its prominent position on the hillside, Our Lady Star of the Sea heritage 

area, and especially the chapel, is highly visible from many parts of Te 

Tūranganui-o-Kupe Seatoun. The lawn and greenspace surrounding the complex 

further enhances the visibility and prominence of the structures and it is this 

visibility that contributes to its significant landscape values. Thus, the setting in 

which the complex sits is a considerable contributor to the overall significance 

values of the complex.  

 

Proposed Area 

Extent includes the land described as Lot 14 DP 51930 (RT WN25D/486), 

Wellington Land District and the buildings and structures known as Our Lady Star 

of the Sea Convent Chapel and covered stairway (connecting Former School to 

Chapel), Our Lady Star of the Sea Former School and Convent and new Convent 

(1959) thereon, and their fittings and fixtures. 

 

Archaeological sites 

The area occupied by the Our Lady Star of the Sea complex of buildings was first 

occupied prior to the year 1900, meaning the site is considered archaeological. 

The Former School and Convent was constructed in 1899, meaning it too is 

considered archaeological despite being incorporated into later additions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
69 “Our Lady Star of the Sea Chapel - Updated Report 2021.” 



 Our Lady Star of the Sea Heritage Area, November 2021 

 Wellington City Council |  26 of 96 
 

Buildings or features 
 

Former School and Convent /Stellamaris Retreat House 

The following is taken from Our Lady Star of the Sea Chapel – Updated Report 2021, 

Wellington City Council. 70 

 

 
 

The original 1899 School House and Convent is still recognisable amongst the 

later additions and dormitories of the current complex. The original construction 

phase is seen in the main elevation upon site entry. It has low pitched gabled 

roofs and a wide verandah. There are sections of modern infill construction and a 

modern service ramp, however, the original elements are still clearly visible.  

 

Alterations were made to the original academy building in 1913, with additions 

including a new schoolroom and extension of the chapel, with one of the larger 

rooms turned into a chapel, 71 still recognisable today by its arched windows.72 

 

The 1913 additions/modifications in the south of the original schoolhouse are 

visible in this same elevation. Sitting below the third gable in the south direction 

(from site entry) in what is still part of the original school, is the chapel. The 

chapel is still recognisable owing to the remaining rose window immediately 

below the gable and two arched, ‘lancet’ windows. A further modification has 

seen a central window inserted between these two chapel windows, probably at 

the same time as changes were made to the dormitory windows, as their styles 

match.  

 
70 “Our Lady Star of the Sea Chapel - Updated Report 2021.” 
71 “Building Permit 156 - Additions to Convent.” 
72 “Star of the Sea Historic Area.” 
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The 1913 multi-story dormitory addition is much less subtle than the chapel 

modifications, and with the likely 1920 additions/modifications, now dominates the 

original schoolhouse, both to the south elevation and behind to the west 

elevation. These phases are clearly recognisable owing to their bulk and scale. 

The south elevation still shows the original fenestration to the second storey; 

however, the window type has changed. At ground floor, the verandah has been 

removed and this level now contains four windows rather than the two either side 

of the entry as was constructed in 1913.  

Our Lady Star of the Sea Chapel and covered walkway73 

 
 

The following is taken from Our Lady Star of the Sea Chapel – Updated Report 2021, 

Wellington City Council. 74 

 

The Chapel of Our Lady, Star of the Sea is two storeys high. The upper level 

consists of the Chapel proper, and the lower level consists of rooms for noviciate 

training. A long, covered stairway built in1925, links the Chapel with the Former 

School and Convent.75 

 

The building is a good representative example of Frederick de Jersey Clere’s skill 

in Gothic Revival design. The architect employed a standard repertoire of lancet 

windows, steep-pitched gables and flying buttresses, executed with minimal 

decoration. The plain red brick exterior relies on the bold, clear massing of 

elements for its visual interest, deriving three-dimensional life from the gabled 

transepts and eight-sided apsidal sanctuary. This last element has subtle 

 
73 “Our Lady Star of the Sea Chapel - Updated Report 2021.” 
74 “Our Lady Star of the Sea Chapel - Updated Report 2021.” 
75 “Our Lady Star of the Sea Chapel - Updated Report 2021.” 
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overtones of the French Chateau style, and this is possibly because a convent 

proposed for the site was to have been built in this style.76 

 

The interior of the Chapel is comparatively large and is noted for its fine 

acoustics.  Rectangular in shape, one of the features of the interior is an apsidal 

sanctuary with a radiating roof truss in jarrah timber. The interior furnishings 

match the character of the building. The Gothic altar is of Carrara marble, the 

stained-glass windows are from the Munich studios of F.X. Zettler. On the west 

gable is a memorial window to Sister M. Cecilia Benbow, featuring St Cecilia.77 

New Convent (1959) 

 
New Convent newly constructed, 1959, Seatoun at left of photo.78  

During the 1950s, profits from the sale of land bordering Seatoun Heights Road 

enabled the Sisters to build a new convent. It was designed by Orchiston Power 

and Associates, Architects and Engineers and built by B Wrigley at a cost of 

£23,998.79 Located on the north side of the Star of the Sea Chapel, the convent is 

a simple two-storey rectilinear building, with a low-pitched roof forming gables at 

either end. It was built with concrete foundations, brick veneer and 

weatherboards. The roof was tiled in Decramastic tiles over a jarrah truss system, 

while the interior panelling is made of oiled rimu.80  The windows are consistent 

throughout and appear equally spaced around the elevations. The convent and 

front lawn look out over the harbour.  

 
76 “Our Lady Star of the Sea Chapel - Updated Report 2021.” 
77 “Our Lady Star of the Sea Chapel - Updated Report 2021.” 
78 Flannigan, “Like a Mustard Seed.” 
79 Convent, 1959, Building Permit C5603, Wellington City Council Archives. 
80 “Our Lady Star of the Sea Chapel - Updated Report 2021”; “Tio Tio Road [16 Fettes Crescent], 
Convent.” 
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Comparative Analysis Summary 
 
The expanding population and efforts by the Catholic Church to increase its role 

in religious education in the late nineteenth century led to many Sisters of Mercy 

complexes being established around Aotearoa New Zealand. The Tāmaki 

Makaurau Auckland and Ōtepoti Dunedin Sisters of Mercy established 

themselves in similar ways to the Te Whanganui-a-Tara Wellington order and 

included chapels, schools, dormitories and convents. All the orders established 

schools as soon as possible after their arrival in Aotearoa New Zealand and 

made do with facilities and buildings that were organised for them with little to no 

resources. The schools grew quickly, with the buildings being used to capacity 

and needing extensions and extra dormitories added, a common pattern amongst 

the Sisters of Mercy complexes.  

 

The Church and Convent of St John the Baptist  

The following is an excerpt from Heritage New Zealand New Zealand Heritage 

List/Rārangi Kōrero, List Number 562 81 

 

The Church and Convent of St John the Baptist reflects over 150 years of 

Catholic worship and other activity in Parnell, one of Tāmaki Makaurau 

Auckland’s earliest suburbs. It is believed to be the oldest surviving Catholic 

church in northern Aotearoa New Zealand, and the site contains a well-preserved 

convent building erected in 1903, linked particularly to the role of religious women 

in education.82 

 

The small timber church was opened in May 1861, built in a prominent position 

beside the Manukau (now Parnell) Road, a major thoroughfare leading from 

Tāmaki Makaurau Auckland to settlements further south and east. The building 

initially consisted of a small rectangular nave with a tower and spire at its western 

end. It is considered to have been designed by the notable architect Edward 

Mahoney, and to be the only survivor reflecting Mahoney’s early use of simple 

Gothic Revival forms. 

 

A small timber convent was built for the Sisters of Mercy on adjacent land, 

possibly by December 1861. The Sisters were the first canonically consecrated 

religious women to become established in Aotearoa New Zealand, and the 

Parnell convent formed their earliest branch house in the Tāmaki Makaurau 

Auckland Diocese. The Sisters played an important role in education and social 

welfare in early colonial Tāmaki Makaurau Auckland and ran both a select school 

and school for the poor from their premises in Parnell. From December 1862, the 

 
81 “Church and Convent of St John the Baptist (Catholic).” 
82 “Church and Convent of St John the Baptist (Catholic).” 
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church became the centre of a formal parish, which was run for the next eleven 

years by Franciscan priests, who also undertook teaching duties. Notable 

subsequent parish priests included Monsignor Henry Fynes (1822-87), who ran 

the Diocese as Vicar General during periods when no bishop was appointed, and 

George Michael Lennihan (1858-1910), who became Bishop of Tāmaki Makaurau 

Auckland in 1896. 

 

An enlargement of the church building in 1898 led to a private chapel being 

created for the nuns by attaching a relocated sacristy to the south side of the 

nave. Five years later, the first convent was demolished to make way for a 

grander two-storey timber structure, which contained reception rooms and a 

refectory at ground floor level, and nuns’ cells upstairs. Both developments were 

overseen by Edward Mahoney’s son, Thomas—a notable architect in his own 

right. The church spire is said to have been previously replaced by a belfry in 

1894, following damage. 

 

Subsequent alterations to the church interior included embellishment of the 

sanctuary in 1931, and changes to the altar as a result of liturgical reforms in the 

1960s. In 1964, the convent and its associated school were closed after more 

than a century of service. Minor alterations to the convent building were 

subsequently undertaken, including the enlargement of some internal spaces and 

the removal of a side porch. A small rear extension was added in 1978. 

 

Since circa 2001, the convent building has been used as commercial offices. The 

church remains in use as a place of worship, a role it has retained for more than a 

century and a half. It is listed as Category 1, Number 562 on the New Zealand 

Heritage List/Rārangi Kōrero. 

 

St Philomena's College for Girls was established in Ōtepoti South Dunedin in 

1897 by the Sisters of Mercy and opened with four pupils.  

 

When Michael Verdon took over as Ōtepoti Dunedin’s second Catholic bishop in 

1896, he quickly saw the need for schools, health and social services in the 

struggling working-class towns and suburbs of Ōtepoti Dunedin. There was only 

one order of religious women in Ōtepoti Dunedin, the Sisters of St Dominic’s but 

they were restricted to the classroom.83 His request to the Mercy community at 

Singleton, NSW, led to a group of seven sisters arriving in Port Chalmers in 

January 1897, led by 33-year-old Mother Kostka Kirby. Her companions on the 

voyage included five sisters and a young novice.84 This follows a very similar 

 
83 Glen, “Divide and Share.” 
84 Glen. 
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pattern to the Te Whanganui-a-Tara Wellington order, which had started with 2 

sisters arriving in 1873 and more arrived in 1876. 

 

St Patrick’s School was opened by The Sisters of Mercy in February 1897 -—

previously the school had been taught by the Dominican nuns. The Sisters also 

established St Philomena’s College, a girl’s high school, which opened in April 

1897. An old 7-roomed weatherboard cottage, said to have done service as a 

hotel and then as a presbytery, was the Sisters’ first home.85 One room served as 

a classroom by day, as a room for the sisters to gather after school hours, and as 

a dormitory by night.86 Three rooms were added to this not long after; one to 

serve as a chapel, one as a refectory and the largest was a classroom for the 

high school.87  A new convent was opened in 1902 and the old convent was 

transformed into a boarding training school for prospective postulants.88 As the 

roll numbers for St Patrick’s School increased, a brick building was built for the 

school and was blessed and opened in 1917.89 St Francis Xavier Academy for 

Young Ladies and Star of the Sea Preparatory for Boys in Te Tūranganui-o-Kupe 

Seatoun began the same way with many extensions and alterations over the 

decades to cover expanding use. 

 

As more girls came to St Philomena’s, the pupils outgrew the convent, so a new 

school was built. Between 1898 and 1950, the Sisters of Mercy established 

convents and primary schools in more than 10 parishes in the Ōtepoti Dunedin 

diocese, including rural towns in Otakou Central Otago and Murihiku Southland 

as well as suburbs of Ōtepoti Dunedin city. They also ran the local parish school 

St Patrick’s and the high school took boarders as well as St Vincent de Paul 

Orphanage for Girls (1898-1955).90 

 

Sisters of Mercy also taught at Moreau College and at Kavanagh College in 

Ōtepoti Dunedin. Te Whanganui-a-Tara Wellington Star of the Sea convent also 

spread themselves amongst teaching at St Anthony’s and Miramar Schools.   

 

In 1975 St Dominic’s College (another girl’s school established by the Dominican 

nuns in 1871) and St Philomena College merged and became one new school, 

known as Moreau College. In 1989, Moreau College was closed and students 

were sent to Kavanagh College, a co-education secondary school, which still runs 

today. In recent years, many of the original buildings of the Catholic South Ōtepoti 

Dunedin complex have been demolished, including St Philomena’s College. 

 
85 Lawrey, “Kirby, Mary Kostka.” 
86 Zealand, “With ‘Not a Penny to Our Name’ Dunedin 1897.” 
87 Glen, “Divide and Share.” 
88 Glen. 
89 Glen. 
90 Hocken Collections, “Orphanages and Children’s Homes in Otago and Southland - Reference 
Guide.” 
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Evaluation Criteria 

A. Historic values: these relate to the history of a place and how 
it demonstrates important historical themes, events, people 
or experiences. 

 

(i) Themes: the place is associated with important themes in 
history or patterns of development. 

 

The Lady Star of the Sea complex is associated with the Te Whānganui-a-Tara 

Wellington heritage theme91 of Building Social and Cultural Life and 

Education and Learning with the Sisters of Mercy Catholic Order in Aotearoa 

New Zealand. It has significant historic, social and townscape values as a 

place of congregation for more than 120 years and for the important role 

played by Catholic religious women in society, particularly in the education of 

children. Its historical association with the Sisters of Mercy, the Te 

Whānganui-a-Tara Wellington Catholic community and the suburb of Te 

Tūranganui-o-Kupe Seatoun, makes the complex significant on a local level.  

(ii) Events: the place has an association with an important 
event or events in local, regional or national history.       

 

The complex, particularly the chapel, is associated with key events in people’s lives, 

including marriages and funerals, thus has some significance at a local level.  

(iii) People: the place is associated with the life or works of an 
individual, group or organisation that has made a 
significant contribution to the district, region or nation 

 

Our Lady Star of the Sea has significant spiritual value for is long connections with 

the Sisters of Mercy, who set up a school, dormitories, chapel and a convent on the 

site. Other Sister of Mercy schools and chapels, such as Tāmaki Makaurau 

Auckland and Ōtepoti Dunedin also developed the same. Two nuns in particular, 

Sister Francis Xavier Hamilton (first teacher at St Francis Xavier Academy for Young 

Ladies) and Sister Mary Cecilia Benbow (head teacher of Star of the Sea 

Preparatory for Boys) are especially important for the establishment of the Sisters of 

 
91 Refer to the Wellington Thematic Heritage Study 2013 
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Mercy in Te Whānganui-a-aTara Wellington. The chapel, built in 1924, has 

significant association with prominent architect Frederick de Jersey Clere.  

(iv) Social: the place is associated with everyday experiences 
from the past and contributes to our understanding of the 
culture and life of the district, region or nation. 

 

The site is associated with everyday experiences of worship by the public and for 

schooling for hundreds of school pupils who boarded on site. It also provides insight 

into, and has significant associations with, the Sisters of Mercy sisters’ daily life, of 

worship and teaching and living in a convent. It is significant at a regional level. 

B. Physical values: these values relate to the physical evidence 
present. 

 

(i) Archaeological: there is potential for archaeological 
investigation to contribute new or important information 
about the human history of the district, region or nation. 

 
The original schoolhouse remains on site and is a key part of the Star of the Sea 

complex. Being constructed prior to the year 1900 means it is considered an 

archaeological site. Investigation into this structure, and any subsurface 

investigation is likely to contribute to the history of the development of Catholic 

Church in Aotearoa New Zealand and in particular, the lives of the Sisters of Mercy. 

Our Lady Star of the Sea has archaeological significance at a national level. 

(ii) Architectural: the place is notable for its style, design, 
form, scale, materials, ornamentation, period, 
craftsmanship or other architectural values 

 

The Chapel of Our Lady Star of the Sea, is a good representative example of a 

Gothic Revival chapel by well-known ecclesiastical architect Frederick de Jersey 

Clere. The building is notable for its outstanding site and bold form. 

The former School house and convent has high integrity. Although alterations were 

carried out over the years to the original building, it is still recognisable amongst the 

later additions and dormitories of the current complex. The additions and 

alternations to the schoolhouse, as well as the wider site progression and 

development reflects an architectural response to increasing demands for space and 

accommodation.  
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The modern 1950s Convent is a further development in this sense. While its 

individual architectural values are of little significance, its place within the site 

complex is significant. 

The Our Lady Star of the Sea complex is a highly intact example of an 

ecclesiastical site that combines worship, education, and residential 

accommodation, for which there are few comparative examples, particularly where 

the earliest structures remain on site (former schoolhouse and convent). 

(iii) Townscape: the place is strongly associated with other 
natural or cultural features in the landscape or townscape, 
and/or contributes to the heritage values of a wider 
townscape or landscape setting, and/or it is a landmark. 

 

The former school and convent building is one of the earliest properties in Te 

Tūranganui-o-Kupe Seatoun and thus, this complex has an enduring presence in the 

suburb’s landscape. The style, form and prominence of the Chapel amongst the 

complex makes it a landmark in Te Tūranganui-o-Kupe Seatoun. The modern 

Convent building (1959) contributes less to townscape values however, the site 

complex, its grandeur and prominent position in the landscape including the 

interconnected nature of the chapel through walkway to former Schoolhouse and 

Convent make a significant contribution to the character of the area and the wider 

Te Tūranganui-o-Kupe Seatoun landscape.  

(iv) Groups: The place is part of a group of buildings, 
structures, or sites that taken together have coherence 
because of their age, history, style, scale, materials, or use.  

 

The Our Lady Star of the Sea Heritage Area is an important grouping of buildings for 
the Sisters of Mercy. The buildings tell the story of the establishment and expansion 
of the Sisters of Mercy order in Te Tūranganui-o-Kupe Seatoun as well as Te 
Whanganui-a-Tara Wellington, and the popularity of their teachings. Many other 
similar Sisters of Mercy complexes across Aotearoa New Zealand have not 
survived. Collectively, these buildings have significant group values. The loss of 
any one structure would negatively impact upon the site narrative and the overall 
group values.  

(v) Surroundings: the setting or context of the place contributes 
to an appreciation and understanding of its character, history 
and/or development. 
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Due to its prominent position on the hillside, Our Lady Star of the Sea heritage area 

and especially the chapel, is highly visible from many parts of Te Tūranganui-o-Kupe 

Seatoun. The lawn and greenspace surrounding the complex further enhances the 

visibility and prominence of the structures and it is this visibility that contributes to its 

significant landscape values. Thus, the setting in which the complex sits is a 

considerable contributor to the overall significant values of the site complex. 

(vi) Scientific: The area or place has the potential to provide 
scientific information about the history of the district or 
region 

 

N/A 

(vii) Technological: the place provides evidence of the history 
of technological development; and/or demonstrates 
innovation or important methods of construction or design; 
and/or contains unusual construction materials. 

N/A 

(viii) Integrity: the significant physical values of the place have 
been largely unmodified. This includes the retention of 
important modifications and/or additions from later 
periods. 

 

The Former Schoolhouse and Convent has been added to over the decades, but the 

original buildings remain and have a high level of exterior integrity. The interiors 

were not inspected and have been altered over the years, with the last major 

refurbishment in 1977. The Chapel and 1959 Convent have high integrity. 

However, it is the overall retention of all buildings within the complex that is rare, and 

thus, as a heritage area, the complex maintains a significant level of integrity at a 

national level.  

(ix) Age: the place is particularly old in the context of human 
occupation of the Wellington region. 

 

The former original Schoolhouse building (St Francis Xavier Academy) is old in the 

history of European settlement in Te Tūranganui-o-Kupe Seatoun, dating from 1899-

1901.  
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C. Social values: these values relate to the meanings that a 
place has for a particular community or communities. 

(i) Sentiment: the place has strong or special associations 
with a particular cultural group or community for spiritual, 
political, social, religious, ethnic, national, symbolic or 
commemorative reasons. 

There is a strong association between this complex and the Catholic Church and in 

particular, the Sisters of Mercy. The place has significance for reflecting the 

development of the Catholic Church in Te Whānganui-a-Tara Wellington, including 

the expansion of the Church into suburban areas to serve the needs of the Te 

Tūranganui-o-Kupe Seatoun community. The expanding population and efforts by 

the Catholic Church to increase its role in religious education in the late nineteenth 

century across Aotearoa New Zealand led to many Sisters of Mercy complexes 

being established around the country. The orders established schools and convents, 

as the order considered education as one of the first works of mercy. The building 

has spiritual value to the Sisters of Mercy and the wider Catholic community. 

(ii) Recognition: the place is held in high public esteem for its 
historic heritage values, or its contribution to the sense of 
identity of a community, to the extent that if it was 
damaged or destroyed it would cause a sense of loss. 

Our Lady Star of the Sea is held in high public esteem by Catholics and the Te 

Whānganui-a-Tara Wellington public alike as shown when the Sisters of Mercy were 

forced to either sell or demolish the Chapel. There was a public outcry, and many 

submissions from the public were received to save the buildings.  In 2007 the 

buildings went into private ownership to preserve them. Both the Chapel individually 

as well as the Heritage Area are listed by Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga 

(1413, 7042). 

(iii) Sense of place/ continuity: the place provides evidence of 
cultural or historical continuity, or contributes to a sense of 
place for a community 

The place has high significance for its ability to provide knowledge about early 

colonial and later nineteenth-century religious life, including Catholic devotion and 

the activities of religious women. The complex has been a key feature and landmark 

in Te Tūranganui-o-Kupe Seatoun for over a century and its longevity in this location 

contributes a distinctive sense of place. 
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D. Tangata whenua values: the place is sacred or important to 
Māori for spiritual, cultural or historical reasons. 

 

While the site and complex will be familiar to Māori, and Catholic Māori alike, these 

values do not relate to their status as tangata whenua.    

E. Rarity: the place is unique or rare within the district or region. 

Many Sisters of Mercy complexes were established around the country and included 

chapels, schools, dormitories and convents. However, not many remain intact as 

many have been forced to sell or have been demolished in recent times. Our Lady 

Star of the Sea has high rarity value at a national level. 

F. Representativeness: the place is a good example of its type, 
era or class it represents. 

 

Our Lady of the Sea has significant representative values. The site shows the 

expansion of the Catholic worship and education of the Sisters of Mercy in Te 

Tūranganui-o-Kupe Seatoun and it follows the pattern of other Aotearoa New 

Zealand Sister of Mercy complexes with their establishment and expansion of 

teachings and education.  
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Heritage Assessment Criteria 

This building has been assessed against the Evaluation Criteria and found to be 

significant in the following heritage values – A,B,C,E,F 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendations  
 

The Our Lady Star of the Sea Chapel in Te Tūranganui-o-Kupe Seatoun, Te 

Whānganui-a-Tara Wellington is included on the Wellington City Council District 

Plan Schedule of heritage buildings as a stand-alone entry. This evaluation has 

considered the site complex against the WCC evaluation criteria for separate 

scheduling as a Heritage Area to align with the Heritage New Zealand Pouhere 

Taonga list entry (7042). 

 

The buildings within the Our Lady Star of the Sea site complex that are proposed 

for inclusion as a scheduled Heritage Area are the Our Lady Star of the Sea 

Former School and Convent and the new Convent (1959). 

 

A: Historic values Significant  

(i) Themes Y 

(ii) Events Y 

(iii) People Y 

(iv) Social Y 

B: Physical values  Significant 

(i) Archaeological Y 

(ii) Architectural Y 

(iii) Townscape Y 

(iv) Group Y 

(v) Surroundings Y 

(vi) Scientific   

(vii) Technological   

(viii) Integrity Y 

(ix) Age   

C: Social values Significant 

(i) Sentiment  Y 

(ii) Recognition  Y 

(iii) Sense of place Y 

D: Tangata whenua values  

E: Rarity Significant 

F: Representativeness Significant 
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Our Lady Star of the Sea complex meets the threshold for eligibility for scheduling 

as a Historic Heritage Area. The scheduling should protect the exterior form, 

materials, scale and roof line of the buildings and structures known as Our Lady 

Star of the Sea Convent Chapel and covered stairway (connecting Former School 

to Chapel), Our Lady Star of the Sea Former School and Convent and new 

Convent (1959) thereon, and their fittings and fixtures, and extend over the entire 

legal site boundaries. 

 

The area is associated with Sisters of Mercy, who played an important role in 

education and social welfare in early colonial Aotearoa New Zealand and  

has significant historic, social, and townscape and archaeological values. It has 

significant group values, and is a good representative of, a Sisters of Mercy 

convent and school complex. As a place of worship and education it has 

significant recognition and sense of place values, and the heritage area is a rare 

complete site. The area has significant physical values, encompassing three 

architecturally significant historic buildings that retain a high degree of integrity. 

This complex of convents, the chapel, walkway, the school and also dormitories 

have important group value and significant sentiment values connected with the 

Sisters of Mercy New Zealand from 1899-1990. The complex has been a highly 

recognised, key feature and landmark in Te Tūranganui-o-Kupe Seatoun for over 

a century and its longevity in this location contributes to a distinctive sense of 

place. 

Other recommendations: 

N/A 

 

Extent of the Place 
 

Extent includes the land described as Lot 14 DP 51930 (RT WN25D/486), 

Wellington Land District and the buildings and structures known as Our Lady Star 

of the Sea Convent Chapel and covered stairway (connecting Former School to 

Chapel), Our Lady Star of the Sea Former School and Convent and new Convent 

(1959) thereon, and their fittings and fixtures. The extent should include the 

greenspace and immediate greenspace setting surrounding the complex. 

 

Inventory of buildings and features  
 

Key: 

Status: 

4 Listed by WCC or registered by HNZPT 
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3 Contributes to the values of the heritage area and 

should be nominated for addition to the District 

Plan schedule as a heritage building or structure 

2 Contributes to the values of the heritage area 

1 Neutral impact on heritage area 

Neg.  Negative impact on heritage area 

 

Name of building / feature Status 

Our Lady Star of the Sea Convent Chapel  4 

Former School and Convent / Retreat House 3 

Covered walkway 4 

Convent (1959) 3 
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Appendix 1 Comparative analysis  

 

Catholic Heritage Area 

Place name Address/ 

location/ NZTM 

of area 

Heritage Listing 

or recognition of 

significance of 

area 

Photographs Analysis  

Church and 

Convent of St 

John the 

Baptist 

(Catholic) 

216-218 Parnell 

Road and Denby 

Street, Parnell, 

Auckland 

Historic Category 1, 

List Number 562 

 
Church & Convent of St John the Baptist 
(Catholic), Auckland, Heritage New 
Zealand, photo by Martin Jones, 
13/10/2011. 

A small timber convent was built for the Sisters of 

Mercy. The Parnell convent formed their earliest 

branch house in the Tāmaki Makaurau Auckland 

Diocese. The small timber church was opened in 

May 1861, built beside the Manukau (now 

Parnell) Road. The building initially consisted of a 

small rectangular nave with a tower and spire at 

its western end. It is considered to have been 

designed by the notable architect Edward 

Mahoney, and to be the only survivor reflecting 

Mahoney’s early use of simple Gothic Revival 

forms. 

An enlargement of the church building in 1898 

led to a private chapel for the nuns created by 

attaching a relocated sacristy to the south side of 

the nave. Five years later, the first Sisters of 

Mercy convent was demolished to make way for 

a grander two-storey timber structure, which 

contained reception rooms and a refectory at 

ground floor level, and nuns’ cells upstairs. Both 

developments were overseen by Edward 

Mahoney’s son, Thomas - a notable architect in 

his own right. This building is similar to Our Lady 

Star of the Seas dormitories. 
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Church & Convent of St John the Baptist 
(Catholic), Auckland, Heritage New 
Zealand, photo by Martin Jones, 

13/10/2011. 

 

Since circa 2001, the convent building has been 

repurposed as commercial offices, much like the 

former Star of the Sea Preparatory School into a 

conference centre. The church remains in use as 

a place of worship, a role it has retained for more 

than a century and a half.  

 

St 

Philomena’s 

College 

Adelaide Road, 

South Dunedin 

 

 
St Philomena’s Dormitory (for older girls’ 
before it was demolished, copyright F.F 
Coory, 
https://frandi.wordpress.com/2011/10/27
/mercy-orphanages-st-dominics-college-
st-josephs-cathdral-lebanese-citadel/ 

St Philomena’s College was established in 

Ōtepoti South Dunedin in 1897 by the Sisters of 

Mercy and opened with four pupils. An old 7 

roomed weatherboard cottage was the Sisters 

first home.93 One room served as a classroom by 

day, as a room for the sisters to gather after 

school hours, and as a dormitory by night.94 

Three rooms were added to this not long after; 

one to serve as a chapel, one as a refectory and 

the largest was a classroom for the high school.95  

A new convent was opened in 1902 and the old 

convent was transformed into a boarding training 

school for prospective postulants.96 St Francis 

Xavier Academy for Young Ladies and Star of the 

Sea Preparatory for Boys in Te Tūranganui-o-

 
93 Lawrey, “Kirby, Mary Kostka.” 
94 Zealand, “With ‘Not a Penny to Our Name’ Dunedin 1897.” 
95 Glen, “Divide and Share.” 
96 Glen. 

https://frandi.wordpress.com/2011/10/27/mercy-orphanages-st-dominics-college-st-josephs-cathdral-lebanese-citadel/
https://frandi.wordpress.com/2011/10/27/mercy-orphanages-st-dominics-college-st-josephs-cathdral-lebanese-citadel/
https://frandi.wordpress.com/2011/10/27/mercy-orphanages-st-dominics-college-st-josephs-cathdral-lebanese-citadel/
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Early view of Convent of Mercy with St 
Philomena’s College on the right.92 

  

Kupe Seatoun began the same way with many 

extensions and alterations over the decades to 

cover expanding use. 

 

As more girls came to St Philomena’s, the pupils 

outgrew the convent, so a new school was built. 

Between 1898 and 1950, the Sisters of Mercy 

established convents and primary schools in 

more than 10 parishes in the Ōtepoti Dunedin 

diocese, including rural towns in Otākou Central 

Otago and Murihiku Southland as well as 

suburbs of Ōtepoti Dunedin city. They also ran 

the local parish school St Patrick’s and the high 

school took boarders as well as St Vincent de 

Paul Orphanage for Girls (1898-1955).97 

 

In 1975 St Dominic’s College (another girls 

school established by the Dominican nuns in 

1871) and St Philomena College merged and 

became one new school, known as Moreau 

College. In 1989, Moreau College was closed 

and students were sent to Kavanagh College, a 

co-education secondary school, which still runs 

today. In recent years, many of the original 

buildings of the Catholic South Dunedin complex 

have been demolished, including St Philomena’s 

College. 

 

 
92 Glen, “Divide and Share.” 
97 Hocken Collections, “Orphanages and Children’s Homes in Otago and Southland - Reference Guide.” 



 

Appendix 2 Wellington Thematic Heritage Study 2013 

 

Refer to the Wellington Thematic Heritage Study 2013 

https://wellington.govt.nz/~/media/services/community-and-culture/heritage/files/thematic-

heritage-study.pdf  

 

 Select the themes & subthemes which 

apply to the place 

Yes 

A MIGRATION/ IMMIGRATION  

A1.5 Other 19th century/ early 20th century 

migrations ethnicities 

 

 

A1.5C Churches Yes, Sisters of Mercy 

established on site from 1909. 

B DEVELOPING ECONOMIES  

D BUILDING SOCIAL AND CULTURAL LIFE  

D1 Belief systems  

D1.1 Religion  

D1.1A Churches Yes - Sister of Mercy, convent, 

chapel and school. 

D1.1C Religious communities Sister of Mercy Convent. 

D2 Education and Learning  

D2.2 Primary, secondary   

D2.2A Schools St Francis Xavier Academy for 

Young Ladies; Star of the Sea 

Preparatory School for Boys 

and associated dormitories, 

Sister of Mercy Convent School 

D6 Communities of Special Interest  

D7.1 Socialising  

D7.1G Meeting places Site was used to hold school 

events, and fundraising events 

as well as weddings and 

funerals. 

 

 

  

https://wellington.govt.nz/~/media/services/community-and-culture/heritage/files/thematic-heritage-study.pdf
https://wellington.govt.nz/~/media/services/community-and-culture/heritage/files/thematic-heritage-study.pdf
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Appendix 3 Supplementary images   

 

 

Star of the Sea convent chapel, with covered walkway, Seatoun, c.1962-1970. Winder, Duncan, 1919-1970: Architectural 

photographs. Ref: DW-5113-F. Alexander Turnbull Library, Wellington, New Zealand. 
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Deposited Plans 

 

 



 Our Lady Star of the Sea Heritage Area, November 2021 

 Wellington City Council |  49 of 96 
 

 

Our Lady of the Sea Former School (c1898-1901) 

 

 

The original school St Frances Xavier Academy for Young Ladies run by Sister Francis Xavier Hamilton opened in 1903-
and ran to 1908.98 

 

 
98 Flannigan, “Like a Mustard Seed.” 
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Free Lance, Volume III, Issue 132, 10 January 1903, Page 21.99 

 

 
99 “St Francis Xavier’s Academy for Young Ladies, Seatoun.” 
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Evening Post, Volume LXXV, Issue 15, 18 January 1908, Page 8.100 

 

 
100 “Page 8 Advertisements Column 2.” 
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Purchase of Ladies Academy, 1909.101 

 

A convent and school established in 1909.102 

 

Preparatory College for boys, 1909.103 

 

 

 

 

  

 
101 “Archdiocese of Wellington.” 
102 “Local and General,” 1909. 
103 “Local and General,” 1909. 
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Plan of additions to the Star of the Sea Preparatory College, Seatoun for the Sisters of Mercy, 1913, Permit 156, 
Wellington City Council Archives. 

 

 

New Zealand Times, Volume XXXIX, Issue 8782, 11 July 1914, Page 9.104 

 

 
104 “Miramar.” 
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Proposed Extra Story for Sisters of Mercy,1920, Permit 507, Wellington City Council Archives. 

 

Proposed Dormitory for Sisters of Mercy, 1920, Permit 492, Wellington City Council Archives. 
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Large two storey wooden building. Copy photograph from publication, ' The Month ' , February 19, 1924, souvenir 

on Archbishop Redwood. 00138-10942, Wellington City Council Archives, 
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Alterations and Additions to Hall at the Seatoun Convent, 1950, Permit B29176, Wellington City Council Archives. 
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Proposed South and East elevations of additions to the ‘Star of the Sea’ Convent, 1956, Permit B4095, Wellington City 

Council Archives. 
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Letterhead from Star of the Sea College, 1960, Wellington City Council Archives.105 

 

 

Our Lady Star of the Sea information and fees, 1965-66, on Old Wellington Region Facebook page, 2020, 
https://www.facebook.com/photosoldwellingtonregion/photos/star-of-the-sea-convent-chapel-seatoun-1960swith-the-

covered-walkway-use-zoom-of/2996993323722252/. 

 

 
105 “Subdivision, Fettes Crescent, Tio Tio Road, Seatoun Heights Road, Star of the Sea Convent.” 

https://www.facebook.com/photosoldwellingtonregion/photos/star-of-the-sea-convent-chapel-seatoun-1960swith-the-covered-walkway-use-zoom-of/2996993323722252/
https://www.facebook.com/photosoldwellingtonregion/photos/star-of-the-sea-convent-chapel-seatoun-1960swith-the-covered-walkway-use-zoom-of/2996993323722252/
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Our Lady Star of the Sea Report Card 1967, on Old Wellington Region Facebook page, 2020, 
https://www.facebook.com/photosoldwellingtonregion/photos/star-of-the-sea-convent-chapel-seatoun-1960swith-the-

covered-walkway-use-zoom-of/2996993323722252/. 

 

Additions and Alterations Star of the Sea Convent, Tio Tio Road, 1987, Permit D8493, Wellington City Council Archives.  

https://www.facebook.com/photosoldwellingtonregion/photos/star-of-the-sea-convent-chapel-seatoun-1960swith-the-covered-walkway-use-zoom-of/2996993323722252/
https://www.facebook.com/photosoldwellingtonregion/photos/star-of-the-sea-convent-chapel-seatoun-1960swith-the-covered-walkway-use-zoom-of/2996993323722252/
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Additions and Alterations Star of the Sea Convent, Tio Tio Road, 1987, Permit D8493, Wellington City Council Archives.  
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Our Lady Star of the Sea Chapel (1924) 

 

 

Convent Chapel, Seatoun, 1923, Permit A1568, Wellington City Council Archives. 
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Our Lady Star of the Sea Convent (1959) 

 

 

Convent Extensions, 1959, Permit 5603, Wellington City Council Archives. 

 



 Our Lady Star of the Sea Heritage Area, November 2021 

 Wellington City Council |  65 of 96 
 

 

 



 Our Lady Star of the Sea Heritage Area, November 2021 

 Wellington City Council |  66 of 96 
 

 

 



 Our Lady Star of the Sea Heritage Area, November 2021 

 Wellington City Council |  67 of 96 
 

 

 

 

  



 Our Lady Star of the Sea Heritage Area, November 2021 

 Wellington City Council |  68 of 96 
 

People associated with Star of the Sea 

 

Sister Francis Xavier Hamilton 

 

Dominion, Volume 1, Issue 212, 1 June 1908, Page 5.106 

 

 

Evening Post, Volume XCIII, Issue 78, 31 March 1917, Page 7107 

 

  

 
106 “Social and Personal.” 
107 “Women In Print.” 
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Sister Cecilia Benbow 

 

Sister Mary Cecilia Benbow.108 

 
108 Flannigan, “Like a Mustard Seed.” 
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Death of Notable Sister of Mercy, New Zealand Tablet, 19 January 1922, Page 23.109 

 

  

 
109 “Death of a Notable Sister of Mercy.” 
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Frederick de Jersey Clere - architect 

 

Frederick de Jersey Clere, one of the Members of the Wellington War Memorial Carillon Society, 1925-1932. Ref: 

PAColl-D-0046.  Andrew, Stanley Polkinghorne, 1878-1964. Andrew, Stanley Polkinghorne, 1879?-1964 :, Alexander 

Turnbull Library, Wellington, New Zealand. http://natlib.govt.nz/records/23026891  

 

School pupils 

 

School pupils, c1960s, Wayne Dellabarca, on Old Wellington Region Facebook page, 2020, 
https://www.facebook.com/photosoldwellingtonregion/photos/star-of-the-sea-convent-chapel-seatoun-1960swith-the-

covered-walkway-use-zoom-of/2996993323722252/.  

http://natlib.govt.nz/records/23026891
https://www.facebook.com/photosoldwellingtonregion/photos/star-of-the-sea-convent-chapel-seatoun-1960swith-the-covered-walkway-use-zoom-of/2996993323722252/
https://www.facebook.com/photosoldwellingtonregion/photos/star-of-the-sea-convent-chapel-seatoun-1960swith-the-covered-walkway-use-zoom-of/2996993323722252/
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School pupils with staff, c1960s, Wayne Dellabarca, on Old Wellington Region Facebook page, 2020, 
https://www.facebook.com/photosoldwellingtonregion/photos/star-of-the-sea-convent-chapel-seatoun-1960swith-the-

covered-walkway-use-zoom-of/2996993323722252/.  

https://www.facebook.com/photosoldwellingtonregion/photos/star-of-the-sea-convent-chapel-seatoun-1960swith-the-covered-walkway-use-zoom-of/2996993323722252/
https://www.facebook.com/photosoldwellingtonregion/photos/star-of-the-sea-convent-chapel-seatoun-1960swith-the-covered-walkway-use-zoom-of/2996993323722252/
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Appendix 5 Records(s) of title 
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